
 

 
 

 

 
 

1 

Resources Department 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 

 

 

AGENDA FOR THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Members of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee are summoned to a meeting, 
which will be held in Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington 
Town Hall on, 6 December 2021 at 7.00 pm. 
 

 
 

Enquiries to : Zoe Lewis 

Tel : 0207  527 3486 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 25 November 2021 

 
Membership Substitute Members 
 

Councillors: Substitutes: 
Councillor Sheila Chapman (Chair) 
Councillor Kadeema Woodbyrne (Vice-

Chair) 
Councillor Santiago Bell-Bradford 
Councillor Janet Burgess MBE 
Councillor Paul Convery 

Councillor Toby North 
Councillor Gulcin Ozdemir 
Councillor John Woolf 

 

Councillor Valerie Bossman-Quarshie 
Councillor Sara Hyde 

Councillor Bashir Ibrahim 
Councillor Anjna Khurana 
Councillor Angelo Weekes 
 

Co-opted Member: 
Mary Clement, Roman Catholic Diocese 

Zaleera Wallace, Parent Governor Representative (Secondary) 
Vacancy Church of England Diocese 
 

Quorum is 3 Councillors 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

2 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence 

 

 

2.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it 
becomes apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or 
vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c) Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between 
you or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) 
and the council. 

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a 
place of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of 
the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

1 - 8 

5.  Chair's Report 
 

 

6.  Items for Call In (if any)  



 
 

3 
 

 

7.  Public Questions 
 

 

 For members of the public to ask questions relating to any subject on the 
meeting agenda under Procedure Rule 70.5. Alternatively, the Chair may 

opt to accept questions from the public during the discussion on each 
agenda item. 

 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

1.  SEND Scrutiny Review - Witness Evidence 

 

Verbal 

Report 

2.  Children's Services Quarter 2 2021/22 Performance Report 
 

9 - 34 

3.  Work Programme 
 

35 - 36 

C.  

 

Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 

 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered 
urgently by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will 
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

D.  

 

Exclusion of press and public 

 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the 
agenda, it is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules in the Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and 
public during discussion thereof. 

 

E.  
 

Exempt items for Call In (if any) 
 

 

F.  

 

Confidential/exempt items 

 

 

G.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently 
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be 

agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 

The next meeting of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee 
 will be on 11 January 2022 

 

Please note that committee agendas, reports and minutes are available  
from the council's website: www.democracy.islington.gov.uk 

http://www.democracy.islington.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
Children's Services Scrutiny Committee - Tuesday, 19 October 2021 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Children's Services Scrutiny Committee held at Council 
Chamber, Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD - Islington Town Hall on Tuesday, 19 
October 2021 at 7.00 pm. 

 
Present: Councillors: Chapman (Chair), Woodbyrne (Vice-Chair), Bell-

Bradford, Burgess, Convery, North and Bossman-

Quarshie (Substitute) (In place of Woolf) 
 

 Co-opted 

Member 

Mary Clement, Roman Catholic Diocese 

Zaleera Wallace, Parent Governor Representative 
(Secondary) 
 

 
 

Councillor Sheila Chapman in the Chair 

 
283 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (ITEM NO. 1)  

Apologies were received from Councillor Woolf. 
 

284 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (ITEM NO. 2)  

Councillor Bossman-Quarshie substituted for Councillor Woolf. 
 

285 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (ITEM NO. 3)  

There were no declarations of interest.  
 

286 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (ITEM NO. 4)  

 
RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2021 be confirmed as 
an accurate record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 

 
287 CHAIR'S REPORT (ITEM NO. 5)  

The Chair updated the Committee as follows: 

 A number of evidence sessions had taken place. A session at New River 

College had been interesting and insightful and had yielded some ideas 

for policy changes that could be recommended. Useful meetings had 

taken place with parents of children with SEND and a Youth Councillor. 

 A visit to the Bridge had been arranged and virtual meetings with 

SENCOs, headteachers and SEND governors had been confirmed. A 

meeting would take place with the Parent Carers Forum Co-Chair and a 

virtual meeting with an Educational Psychologist, Head of Virtual School 

and Service Manager from Independent Futures would be arranged. In 

addition, a visit to a mainstream school would take place and work was 

taking place on surveys to be sent to parents, carers, headteachers and 

SENCOs before Christmas. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

2 
 

 The next meeting was due to take place on Tuesday 23 November but 

had now been rescheduled for Monday 6 December and would take 

place in Committee Room 1. 

 Claire Ballak had resigned from the committee. The Chair thanked her 

for her service and advised that work would take place to recruit 

another co-opted member to the committee.  

 A Commons Petitions Committee report called on the government to 

urgently put support in place for parents who missed out during 

lockdown. The committee urged the government to publish a 

"dedicated Covid-19 recovery strategy for new parents” and called for a 

number of measures to be introduced including: 1) funding for local 

authorities to arrange in-person visits to new parents by councils, 

voluntary organisations or health visiting staff by the end of the year; 

and 2) a review into the funding, affordability and provision of 

childcare, and the sustainability of the childcare sector. 

 There had been an increase in mental health referrals with record 

numbers of children and young people seeking access to NHS mental 

health services. NHS Digital data showed that while the mental health 

crisis was affecting people of all ages, it was under-18s who were 

suffering the most. The Royal College of Psychiatrists’ analysis had 

found that:  

1) 80,226 more children and young people were referred to Child 
and Young People mental health services between April and 

December last year, up by 28% on 2019. 
2) 18,269 children and young people needed urgent or emergency 

crisis care which was an increase of 18% on 2019. 

The Royal College of Psychiatrists had called for the additional £500 
million in the Government’s mental health recovery plan to urgently 
reach the frontline so that people could get the support they required. 

Dr Dubicka, chair of the child and adolescent faculty at the Royal 

College of Psychiatrists, said: “Our children and young people are 
bearing the brunt of the mental health crisis caused by the pandemic 
and are at risk of lifelong mental illness.  As a frontline psychiatrist I’ve 

seen the devastating effect that school closures, disrupted friendships 
and the uncertainty caused by the pandemic have had on the mental 
health of our children and young people.”  

 Nationally there was a worrying rise in primary school exclusions. Also, 

data uncovered by Agenda, an alliance of charities campaigning for 

women and girls, found that black Caribbean girls were permanently 

excluded from school at a rate double that of white British girls during 

the academic year 2019-20, with this tripling for mixed white and 

Caribbean girls. During the same time period, girls from Gypsy, Roma, 

and Traveller communities faced rates of permanent exclusion that 

were four times higher than those of white British girls. 

 

RESOLVED: 

That the Chair’s report be noted. 

Page 2

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/9qZeCl5EvuqrQR2iNDTzm?domain=the-difference.us17.list-manage.com


Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

3 
 

 
288 ITEMS FOR CALL IN (IF ANY) (ITEM NO. 6)  

None. 

 

289 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (ITEM NO. 7)  
None. 

 
290 SEND SCRUTINY REVIEW - WITNESS EVIDENCE (ITEM NO. B1)  

Charisse Monero, Assistant Director – Commissioning gave a presentation on 

Progression to Adulthood. 
 
In the presentation the following main points were made: 

 The Progression to Adulthood (PTA) Strategy was developed in 2019/2020 
and was a joint strategy between Children’s Services and Adult Soc ial 
Services. The Strategy set out a range of needs, aims and aspirations to 
support and improve how young people with SEND were enabled to progress 
into adulthood. This included goals and aspirations, information, health and 
wellbeing, housing, and data and commissioning. 

 A Programme Board had been established to oversee the strategic direction, 
delivery and implementation of the PTA programme. 

 The progression to adulthood programme of work responded to the strategy 
and aimed to be focused around the key national preparing for adulthood 
outcomes, with key workstreams being: 1) Health and wellbeing; 2) 
Independent living; 3) Community inclusion; and 4) Goals and aspirations 
(education, training and employment) 

 The PTA service was being developed to make it meaningful and ensure it had 
an impact on those making the transition.  

 Overall good progress had been made in ensuring young people making the 
transition were supported.  

 Funding was identified to pilot a progression to adulthood team and a pilot 
team had been set up to proactively undertake care act assessment and 
provide transition support for young people with: 1) Social emotional and 
mental health needs; 2) Autistic spectrum conditions; 3) Sensory needs; 4) 
Complex health needs. 

 The pilot started in December 2020/January 2021 and was funded for a year.  
A mid-point review and evaluation had been commissioned to consider impact, 
through undertaking discussions with the PTA team, engaging with wider 
social work and health practitioners and obtaining the views from young 
people and families. So far the team had worked with 80 young adults with a 
complex range of social care and mental health needs. 

 Collaborative working had been strengthened across Children’s Services and 
Adult Social Care to ensure young people that would otherwise ‘fall through 
the gaps’ were being supported. 

 The team had enabled timely assessments for young people with complex 
Mental Health needs, preventing escalation, and higher costs in the future.  

 The team built confidence of young people, enabled stability and supported 
employment outcomes. 

 10 cases had been sampled to understand impact.  These had identified 
positive working relationships with young people and their new 
practitioners/social workers. The team had undertaken mental health capacity 
assessments, and deprivation of liberty safeguards and ensured there was a 
full range of PTA outcomes for young people including housing, 
education/training/employment, health and community inclusion. 

 Young people and their families had stated that: 1) the team had helped with 
education independence, helped to work on cv and guide towards 

employment and college; 2) assessment of need was very good; 3) having 

Page 3



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

4 
 

someone to turn to and pick up pieces was really important and; 4) parents 
found carer assessment really helpful. 

 Areas for development were: 1) assessments as there was some frustration at 

the number of assessments; 2) strengthening joint working between services 
and collaborating earlier to enable earlier intervention.  

 The plan for the next 12 months included; 1) developing relationships with the 
wider system; 2) strengthening the partnership with the leaving care team; 3) 
diversifying disciplines within the team from predominantly social workers to 
include more mental health input; 4) identifying further opportunities for 
strengthening shared ways of working between children’s and adults to shape 
shared ways of working; and 5) strengthening the skills of the workforce in 
relation to autism and mental health, particularly as prevalence, complexity 
and severity of need in relation to autism meant demand was outstretching 
demand. 

 There was an aim for a permanent social care team to be in place from 1 April 
2022 with an Annual Learning and Impact report produced in February 2022. 

 
In the discussion the following main points were made: 

 A member stated that as part of the SEND Transitions scrutiny, members had 
met with parents of children with SEND and parents had stated they felt 
isolated and stated that there had been no contact from Adult Social Services 
in relation to support for the family and siblings. The officer advised that the 
PTA worked with other services and had a family approach and the pilot 
provided an all age early intervention and prevention offer from birth to late 
adulthood. Families who required additional support were given the 
opportunity to be signposted into services. 

 In response to a member’s question about the size of the cohort, the officer 
advised that for those aged 16, 17 and 18 there were approximately 100 
young people in each group with EHCPs. Approximately 50% could live 
independently with support and the other 50% required more support. The 
project worked with young people aged 17-25. The demand on services would 
become greater in the future with higher rates of autism in the primary cohort 
and a larger cohort at primary level (approximately 120 each year).  

 In response to a member’s question about the roles of staff in the pilot team 
and how the team worked with the Leaving Care team, the officer stated that 
there was a Team Manager, Senior Practitioner and seven social workers. 
Consideration was being given to expanding the team to include Mental Health 
and community elements. Work took place with the Leaving Care team to 
ensure continuity and joint planning took place. 

 In response to a member’s question about the length of time of the average 
intervention and the support that was given to young people in transitioning 
out of the programme, the officer advised that currently the average 
intervention lasted 6-9 months. Going forward, it was anticipated shorter, 16 
week interventions could be offered to young people with less complex needs 
in addition to a longer term programme for those with more complex needs. 
The 16-week programme would aim to create independency and empower a 
young person to access services in a shorter time frame. Before a young 
person left the programme, work took place with other services on an exit 
pathway to ensure a safe transition out with the young person being able to 
live independently. 

 In response to member’s questions about the percentage of males and 
females in the cohort and the percentage of children with autism who had 
Asperger’s, the officer reported that across the cohort there was 
approximately 67% males and 33% females and in the cohort of young 
people with autism, it was approximately 60% males and 40% females. Post-
Covid there had been more girls presenting at Tier 4 (the highest level of 
hospital admissions) in relation to mental health. Asperger’s was at the higher 
functioning end of the autism spectrum and although data was not broken 

Page 4



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

5 
 

down into types of autism, approximately 20% of young people on the 
spectrum were at the higher-functioning end of the spectrum. 

 In response to a member’s question about whether the team worked with the 
police, the officer stated that work had been undertaken with the police and 
health colleagues to raise awareness about autism. 130 young people had 
received police orders and of these 20% had a diagnosis of autism. More work 
would be done to raise awareness and provide support for these young 
people. 

 In response to a member’s question about how young people with the most 
complex needs could be supported after their intervention programme ended, 
the officer advised that it was important to ensure there was not just a whole 
family response but also a whole system approach with progression to 
adulthood being a shared endeavour and responsibility between education, 
social care and health services providing wraparound support. A diverse menu 
of support would be provided and interventions would have a life course 
approach and provide a safe landing into community services. 

 A member reported that parents had raised concern that ensuring their 
children’s needs were met had been a battle and parents who had English as 
an additional language or were disadvantaged might not have the needs of 
their children adequately met. The officer stated that work was taking place to 
create an environment of cultural inclusion. Co-production workshops would 
be run in the lead up to the launch of the new service and the service wanted 
to reach out to harder to reach families and hear from bilingual families and 
disadvantaged groups as part of this. There would be multi-communication 
channels to enable parents to communicate. 

 It was suggested that work on the transition to adulthood should start aged 
13-14. The officer agreed that thinking about transitions at this stage could 
help avoid exclusions and the need for statutory interventions and officers 
would be taking this forward. Early transition preparation was part of EHCPs. 

 In response to a question about how success of the programme would be 
measured, the officer advised that case studies would be examined. In 
addition, there would be key performance measures with baseline, mid-point 
of intervention and end of intervention measurements taken as well as 
measurements 3-6 months after the intervention to check transitions into 
employment, education and secure housing had been successful and that 
outcomes had been sustained without support. This would give a 
comprehensive evaluation. The Chair suggested that measurements should 
also be taken after 1 year, 2 years and 5 years. The officer stated that 
consideration could be given to undertaking these measurements as part of a 
longitudinal study. 

 In response to a member’s questions about how the voices of parents could 
be heard and how parents could be brought together to support each other, 
the officer stated that there was a need to link into existing groups. A Parental 
Engagement Strategy was being rolled out and there was a SEND Parents’ 
Forum funded by central government.  

 Members stated that some parents did not know that support services existed 
and felt they did not have support. Part of this could be due to the digital 
divide. The officer stated that she would take this away as an area for 
development. It was possible to utilise existing services e.g. community 
services, schools and children’s centres to make information available.  

 An officer stated that the Islington SEND Community Support Service provided 
independent advice and Islington published its local SEND offer. Facilitating 
access to services, supporting parents and carers and responding to needs 
early could help prevent escalation.  

 Officers were thanked for their presentation. 

 
RESOLVED: 
1) That members of the Committee be invited to co-production workshops. 

Page 5



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

6 
 

2) That officers consider more ways to ensure the voices of parents were 
heard. 
3) That officers consider measuring the success of the programme at 1 year,  
2 years and 5 years after the end of each intervention. 
4) That the presentation be noted. 

 
291 SACRE ANNUAL REPORT (ITEM NO. B2)  

Anthony Doudle, presented the SACRE Annual Report. 

 
In the presentation and discussion the following main points were made: 

 SACRE was Islington Council’s statutory function to deliver Religious 

Education (RE) in Islington. RE was a compulsory element of the 

curriculum, however unlike other subjects, there were no national 

guidelines and guidelines were instead determined by the local 

authority. 

 Covid had impacted on the ability of SACRE and schools to deliver RE. 

During the first lockdown the national curriculum was suspended and 

there was a focus on childcare. In the first three weeks, the School 

Improvement Team provided 18,000 printed home learning packs 

which included RE materials.  

 When some years returned to school, there was a focus on Reading, 

Writing and Arithmetic. In September 2020, when there was a full 

return to schools there were social distancing restrictions and bubbles. 

Assemblies and school trips were restricted. Schools had responded well 

to delivering collective worship, which was a moment in the day to 

reflect on a word, phrase or story, virtually. 

 SACRE provided an agreed syllabus and scheme of work. 40% schools 

in Islington were not required to follow this as they were Academies, 

Church of England or Catholic Schools. 

 The 2021 GCSEs were currently being quality assured and would be 

available in early 2022. 

 One role of SACRE was to assess the quality of RE provision in schools. 

The majority of schools in Islington were rated good.  

 There had been no complaints about RE and no requests for 

withdrawal. 

 There had been two Freedom of Information requests and these had 

been responded to within the statutory time frame. 

 The agreed syllabus was last set in 2017 and would be reviewed in time 

for the new agreed syllabus for the next five years to start in 

September 2022. The officer suggested that collective worship could be 

reviewed as part of this with discussions with schools taking place and 

additional guidance provided. 

 During the pandemic there had been two virtual SACRE meetings. 

Another meeting had been postponed to the Autumn term. 

 In response to a member’s question about SACREs work regarding 

Relationships and Sex Education, the officer stated that SACRE worked 

with families and young people to provide reassurance and ensure that 

issues of faith, science and relationships were clear. It was important to 

Page 6



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

7 
 

show parents the content of the Relationship And Sex Education 

curriculum. 

 Work would take place with governors to help them understood their 

statutory role in ensuring the Equality Act was evidenced in the 

curriculum.  

 A member asked about how collective worship in schools was inspected 

and the officer stated as every local authority had a different agreed 

syllabus, it was likely that inspectors would speak to pupils in relation to 

difference, diversity, whether they went on educational trips to places 

of faith and inspectors would also look at PSHE before making 

comments. 

 In response to a member’s question the officer stated that pupils did 

not learn about faiths independently but through the agreed syllabus, 

they would work through a learning question which would pull in faiths 

and show interconnections. Classroom displays were regularly changed 

and the Education Library Service provided artefacts which pupils could 

use in a respectful way. Consideration would be given to ensuring that 

celebrations had the same profile so were treated in an equal and 

respectful way. 

 In response to a member’s question about early years and teaching 

about minority faiths, the officer stated that the scheme of work 

covered Early Years to Key Stage 5. There was a need to work with 

Early Years settings to ensure they were taking advantage of resources. 

There were gaps in membership on SACRE, especially of minority faiths. 

Work to fill gaps had begun prior to the pandemic and would be 

restarted. 

 In response to a member’s question about how many schools had 

achieved the RE Quality Mark (REQM), the officer stated that he would 

obtain this figure. Work on this had been stopped during the pandemic 

but would be restarted. 

 
RESOLVED: 

1) That the report be noted. 
2) That members be advised of the number of schools with the RE Quality 
Mark. 

 
292 WORK PROGRAMME (ITEM NO. B3)  

RESOLVED: 

That the work programme be noted. 
 
 

 
MEETING CLOSED AT 8.40 pm 
 

 
 
Chair 

Page 7



Children's Services Scrutiny Committee -  19 October 2021 

 

8 
 

 

Page 8



Page 1 of 23 

 

 
People Directorate 

222 Upper Street, London N1 1XR 
 

Report of:  Director of Children’s Services 
 

Meeting of: 
 

Date: Ward(s): 
 

Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 6th December 2021 All 
 
 

 

Delete as appropriate  Non-exempt 
 

 
 

 

SUBJECT: Children’s Services Quarter 2 2021/22 Performance Report 
 

1. Synopsis 

1.1 The council has in place a suite of corporate performance indicators to help monitor progress in 

delivering the outcomes set out in the council’s Corporate Plan. Progress on key performance 

measures are reported through the council’s Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis to ensure 

accountability to residents and to enable challenge where necessary.  

1.2 This report sets out Q2 2021/22 progress against targets for those performance indicators that fall 

within the Children and Young People outcome area, for which the Children’s Services Scrutiny 

Committee has responsibility. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 To note performance against targets in Q2 2021/22 for measures relating to Children and Young 

People. 

3. Background  

3.1 A suite of corporate performance indicators had been agreed for 2018-22, which help track 

progress in delivering the seven priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan - Building a Fairer 

Islington. Targets are set on an annual basis and performance is monitored internally, through 

Departmental Management Teams, Corporate Management Board and Joint Board, and externally 

through the Scrutiny Committees. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item B2



Page 2 of 23 

3.2 The Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee is responsible for monitoring and challenging 

performance for the following key outcome area: Children and Young People.  The Committee also 

reviews performance related to children and young people under the Safety outcome area, e.g. key 

measures for the Youth Offending Service. 

 

3.3 The Corporate Indicator set were reviewed at the end of 2020/21 and a revised set of measures 

have been put in place for 2021/22.  The changes took into account measures that were not 

reportable under some of the lockdown restrictions in 2020/21, but that will be reportable for at 

least part of 2021/22 (e.g. school attendance), as well as performance during the previous year.  

The set of measures used for quarterly Children’s Services Scrutiny performance reporting has been 

updated to reflect these changes.  Full details of all the changes were provided in the Q1 2021/22 

Performance Report. 

3.4 This report is currently structured using the outcome areas from the Council’s Corporate Plan - 

Building a Fairer Islington.  The 2021 Strategic Plan has now been published.  However, for Q2 

performance reporting, we have been asked to continue to use the objectives from the previous 

plan.  Corporate Management Board will make a decision on the structure used for corporate 

performance reporting, and by extension the reporting format for performance reports to scrutiny 

committees, in due course. 

 

4. Outstanding issues and queries from Q1 2021/22 Performance Reports 

4.1 The Committee discussed the Q1 2021/22 performance reports at its meeting on 20th September 

2021. There are no outstanding queries to be resolved. 

 

 
 
  

Page 10



Page 3 of 23 

 

5. Quarter 2 performance update – Outcome: Creating a safe and cohesive 

borough for all 

5.1 Key performance indicators relating to ‘Creating a safe and cohesive borough for all’ 

 

 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 

Actual 

2021/22 

Target 

Q2 

2021/22 

On 

target

? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than 

Q2 

last 

year? 

1.1 

Percentage of young 

people (aged 10-17) 

triaged that are diverted 

away from the criminal 

justice system 

80% 89% n/a 85% N/A 94% No 

1.2 

Corporate Indicator: 

Number of first time 

entrants into Youth 

Justice System 

61 38 60 25 Yes 15 No 

1.3 

Corporate Indicator: 

Percentage of repeat 

young offenders (under 

18s) 

37% 27% 37% 20% Yes 55% Yes 

1.3a 

Corporate Indicator 

sub-measure: 

Percentage of repeat 

young offenders (under 

18s) - YJB measure 

30.8% 
Not yet 

available 
40% 

56.5% 

(Q3 

2019/20 - 

Q2 

2020/21) 

No 

45.0% 
(Q3 

2018/1
9 - Q2 

19/20) 

No 

1.4 

Number of custodial 

sentences for young 

offenders 

7 2 10 4 Yes 1 No 

1.5 
Number of Domestic 

abuse offences 
2,501 2,537 2,664 1355 Yes 1378 

In 

line 

 

 1.1 - Percentage of young people (aged 10-17) triaged that are diverted away from 

the criminal justice system 

5.2 The diversion rate for Q2 2021/22 was 85%, compared to 89% in Q1, which relates to 17 out of 

20 young people triaged not going on to receive a substantive outcome.  This performance relates 

to a small cohort of young people, there is no significant difference between performance this 

quarter and the previous couple of years and numbers remain relatively low. Targeted Youth 

Support (TYS) continues to improve outcomes in relation to the percentage of young people 

diverted from the criminal justice system with a significant improvement in the cumulative 

measure for all three quarters. The completion of high quality assessments with these young 

people, ensures the delivery of the interventions including targeted interventions to address risk 

of further offending and to promote desistence. This has included the prioritisation of continued 

Page 11



Page 4 of 23 

face to face contact with young people throughout the pandemic prioritising children’s complex 

needs including those at risk of offending and/or being excluded from school.    

 

 

1.2 - Corporate Indicator: Number of first-time entrants into Youth Justice System 

5.3 There have only been 25 First Time Entrants (FTEs) into the Youth Justice System by the end of 

Quarter 2 2021/22, compared to the target of 30 by this point in the year.  Although this was 

higher than at the same point in 2020/21, offending levels dropped significantly around the 

coronavirus restrictions, and so are not directly comparable to the same period in 2021/22.  

Therefore, the targets for 2021/22 have been set in line with the targets for 2019/20.  

There were no updates to the comparator data on First Time Entrants published by the Youth 

Justice Board for a significant period around the pandemic.  We have now started to receive new 

updates.  The data is published in rates per 100,000 10-17 year olds in each area to allow 

comparisons to be made.  Islington’s rate for the 2020 calendar year was 252 per 100,000, a fall 

from 367 per 100,000 in 2019.  Whilst Islington remains above the England (172) and London 

(227) rates, we are now in line with the YOT Family (250).  Islington has narrowed the gap with 

comparators, as the Islington rate fell by over 30%, whereas the comparators fell by around 15% 

each. 

Reducing the number of first-time entrants remains an important priority and as such we are 

continuing to prioritise targeted early intervention to reduce the numbers. Early intervention and 

identification of young people at risk of offending has been a key priority during the pandemic in 

recognition of young people being adversely impacted by the pandemic and the predicted 

increase in youth offending. We continue to prioritise and respond to the needs of those at risk of 

offending with the continued support of commissioned services, interventions and other parts of 

the partnership. Triage interventions continue to be prioritised by way of improved assessment 

frameworks, quality assurance and tailored interventions.   

 

1.3 - Corporate Indicator: Percentage of repeat young offenders (under 18s) and 

1.3a - Corporate Indicator sub-measure: Percentage of repeat young offenders (under 

18s) - YJB measure 

5.4 Only six of the 30 young offenders from 12 months ago had reoffended by the end of Q2 

2021/22, so performance for this period was 20%.  This is much better than the target of 37%, 

which is based on performance during the 12 months of the 2019/20 financial year.  As with the 

First Time Entrants measure, as the coronavirus social restrictions have had an impact on the 

levels of offending in 2020/21, targets for the youth offending measures for 2021/22 have been 

based on 2019/20 targets. 

This measure is based on the re-offending over the previous 12 months for the cohort of 

offenders from the quarter immediately prior to this 12-month period (i.e. those who offended 

between 15 and 12 months ago), so is looking at a different cohort each quarter.  

Across the cohort of 30 young offenders, there were 12 re-offences, making an average of 0.40 

re-offences per offender.  This is a big fall from last year, when there was an average 1.30 re-

offences per offender. 

As with the FTE data, the YJB have just started to release new data again, after a pause during 

the pandemic restrictions.  The data released is for the re-offending of the July-September 2019 

cohort of the following 12 months.  In effect, this is twelve months behind our local measure, but 

Page 12



Page 5 of 23 

it does include revised data from the Police National Computer.  The latest data is for a period 

where Islington re-offending rate peaked, and is in line with the figure reported for our main 

measure under the ‘Q2 last year’ heading.  Islington is above the re-offending rate for our 

comparators.  However, as we know re-offending fell after this point in our local data, we will 

track how this compares to other areas in future updates from the YJB.  It is also worth noting 

that although the proportion of Islington young offenders who went on to re-offend was relatively 

high for this period, they only committed a relatively low number of offences.  Each re-offender 

committed an average of 2.38 re-offences, which is one of the lowest 20% of rates in the 

country. 

Indicators in relation to re-offending continue to move in a positive trajectory with the rate now 

below the re-offending rates of comparable YOTs. However, re-offending rates remain challenging 

post increase in the number of offences following periods of lockdown and the impact of the 

pandemic on outcomes for vulnerable children. There has been a focus, within the service, to 

identify and respond to this cohort to ensure robust intervention and enforcement where 

appropriate. Re-offending tracker data is reviewed to identify those young people who pose a 

high risk of further offending and to ensure appropriate oversight and allocation of resources to 

reduce risk of further offending.  Interventions have been strengthened and targeted by way of a 

dedicated interventions lead and enforcement overseen by the Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

Multi Agency Risk Panel and the Islington Group Offending Partnership Panel. We also continue to 

ensure that there are robust multi-agency responses to young people risk of re-offending. We 

continue to work closely with police colleagues to ensure that enforcement is commensurate to 

each case whilst providing targeted intervention. However, there are still young people with 

significant and multiple vulnerabilities that remain entrenched in their offending which presents 

challenges in relation to reducing re-offending rates for this cohort. 

 

1.4 - Corporate Indicator: Number of custodial sentences for young offenders 

5.5 There have been four custodial sentences of Islington young people in the first two quarters of 

2021/22.  The target for the year was to have fewer than ten custodial sentences (in line with the 

target for 2019/20), so this measure is on target.  The number for Q1-2 20201/22 is higher than 

the same period in 2020/21, when there was a particularly low number of custodial sentences, 

likely related to the impact of coronavirus. 

The YJB publish custodial figures as rates per 1,000 10-17 year olds, to allow comparisons to be 

made between different areas.  The latest published Islington rate is for July 2020 – June 2021, 

when the Islington rate was just 0.11 per 1,000.  The Islington rate remains lower than the 

England (0.14), London (0.19) and the YOT Family (0.20) rates.  

The number of young people receiving custodial sentences has fallen and this is reflected in a 

year-on-year decline from 2018 to date. This has in part been achieved by improved court 

practice and targeted interventions to reduce both the likelihood and seriousness of offending. 

Whilst significant progress has been made in reducing the number of young people who receive 

custodial sentences there remains an entrenched but reducing cohort of young people who will 

inevitably receive custodial sentences in the future. The pandemic has also led to the perpetration 

of some very serious offences by young people. 

 

 1.5 - Number of domestic abuse offences 

Page 13



Page 6 of 23 

  

5.7 There have been 1,355 domestic abuse offences recorded in the first half of 2021/22.  This is 

above the target for Q2 (1,332 – half of the year-end target of 2,664).  Although this is 

marginally lower than the same period in 2020/21, it is within the 2% of last year’s figure, and so 

is reported as ‘in line’ with previous performance. 

Domestic abuse has historically been under-reported, so the target for this measure is an increase 

in offences being reported to the police.   

 

While the number of domestic abuses offences in Islington remains stable, we are continuing to 

see elevated referrals to our VAWG (Violence against women and girls) services in the borough, 

who supported 919 survivors and families during April – September this year an increase of 23% 

on the same period in 2020.  The Domestic Abuse Daily Safeguarding Meeting (DSM) replaced 

the DA MARAC in January 2021, the DSM is a multi-agency fully integrated approach to needs 

management for survivors of DA, embedding the MARAC process into the Multi Agency 

Safeguarding Hub. The DSM is extremely busy and has seen a 188% increase in referrals in 

January – June 2021 compared to the same period in 2020-21 under the old MARAC system.  The 

DSM is having a positive impact with responses to medium to high-risk referrals heard within 2-3 

days at DSM compared to up to 45 days under the MARAC. The DSM has also achieved a 10% 

decrease in repeat referrals and a 305% increase in requests for civil and legal protections orders 

to protect survivors from the perpetrator.    

The council is launching the new Islington VAWG strategy 2021- 2026 in November to coincide 

with the International Day for the Elimination of Violence against women and the 16 days of 

action.  It is a comprehensive and partnership-focussed strategy that sets out a commitment to 

keep as many of our women and girls and their families as safe as possible, to make perpetrators 

accountable for their actions and to have a first-class system in place to achieve this. 

  

Page 14



Page 7 of 23 

  

6. Quarter 2 performance update – Outcome: Delivering an inclusive economy, 
supporting people into work and financial independence and helping them with 
the cost of living 

  

6.1 Key performance indicators relating to ‘Delivering an inclusive economy, supporting people into 

work and financial independence and helping them with the cost of living’ 

 
 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 

Actual 

2021/22 

Target 

Q2 

2021/22 

On 

target

? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than 

Q2 

last 

year? 

2.4 

100 hours of the 

world of work - 

Number of schools 

engaged with the 

programme 

25 22 40 12 No 21 No 

2.5 

Number of page 

views for 100 

hours of the world 

of work 

New 

indicator 

in 

2020/21 

4,504 2,000 1,522 Yes 1625 No 

  

 2.4 - 100 hours of the world of work - Number of schools engaged with the programme 

6.2 Target not met. 12 schools engaged with 100 hours of World of Work programme in Q1 & Q2, 

below the profiled target of 20 for this period.  

Q2 has seen the relaunch of our 100 hours World of Work activity menu with a hybrid of online and 

in-person careers activities. We have seen strong engagement from secondary schools this quarter 

and continue our bespoke work with Beacon High, New River College, Samuel Rhodes and Richard 

Cloudesley Schools, with more activities scheduled for Q3 & Q4.  

 

At present, primary school engagement is proving more challenging.  In response to this, we are 

promoting our offer through the 11 by 11 menu (which has strong primary take up) and will follow up 

with all primary schools who request support in Q3.  We are also working with primary Head 

Teachers through Islington Community of Schools (ICoS) Workstream 4 to build on their best 

practise in embedding careers in the primary curriculum. 

 

Meetings with 6 primary school teachers have been set up to discuss careers planning, with 

activities planned to start after half term.  Early feedback suggests that it would be easier for 

primaries to engage if careers activities were aligned with the curriculum and so we shall be 

scoping proposals to run a range of activities across National Careers Week in March 2022. 

 
 

 2.5 - Number of page views for 100 hours of the world of work 

6.3 Target met. 1,522 page views in Q1&2, ahead of the target set of 1,000 page views for this 

period.  

Page 15



Page 8 of 23 

 The number of page views dropped off during the summer holidays but have since increased with 

the reopening of schools in September and renewed interest in our activity menu.  We will continue 

to add new resources, offers and partner activities to our menu pages and highlight these to 

schools via our weekly careers bulletin.  Our home learning pages remain live and although not 

required while schools remain operating as normal, they are in place should any new Covid 

restrictions resulting in a return to hybrid learning being introduced. 

 

 
  

Page 16



Page 9 of 23 

7 Quarter 2 performance update – Outcome: Making Islington the best place for all 

young people to grow up – where children and families can thrive and reach their 

potential 

 

7.1 

 

Key performance indicators relating to ‘Making Islington the best place for all young people to grow 

up – where children and families can thrive and reach their potential’ 

 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 

Actual 

2021/22 

Target 

Q2 

2021/22 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than 

Q2 last 

year? 

3.2 

Corporate Indicator - 

Number of children being 

supported through our 

Bright Islington family 

support offer – rate of 

assessments per 10,000 

1,035 985 n/a 984 n/a 993 In line 

3.2 

Percentage of 2 year old 

places taken up by low 

income families, children 

with Special Educational 

Needs or Disabilities 

(SEND) or who are looked 

after 

63% 70% 57% 

67% 

(Summer 

2020/21 

Academic 

Year) 

Yes 
Not 

available 
n/a 

3.6 

Corporate Indicator: 

Percentage of mainstream 

school children who are 

persistently absent (below 

90% attendance) 

Not 

available 

due to 

Covid 

TBC 

Published 

March 

2022 

At or 

below 

Inner 

London 

(9.9% in 

Aut & Spr 

20/21) 

10.4% 

(Autumn & 

Spring 

terms 20-

21) 

No 

Not 
available 
due to 
Covid 

n/a 

3.6a 

Corporate Sub-measure 

- Percentage of primary 

school children who are 

persistently absent (below 

90% attendance) 

Not 

available 

due to 

Covid 

TBC 

Published 

March 

2022 

At or 

below 

Inner 

London 

(9.2% in 

Aut & Spr 

20/21) 

7.9% 

(Autumn & 

Spring 

terms 20-

21) 

Yes 

Not 
available 
due to 
Covid 

n/a 

3.6b 

Corporate Sub-measure 

- Percentage of secondary 

school children who are 

persistently absent (below 

90% attendance) 

Not 

available 

due to 

Covid 

TBC 

Published 

March 

2022 

At or 

below 

Inner 

London 

(10.9% in 

Aut & Spr 

20/21) 

14.1% 

(Autumn & 

Spring 

terms 20-

21) 

No 

Not 
available 
due to 
Covid 

n/a 

3.8 
Number of Electively Home 

Educated pupils 
182 247 253 234 Yes 242 Yes 

3.18 

Children's social care 

contacts in the past 

month 

976 

(March 

2019) 

971 

(March 

2020) 

n/a 

1,026 

(Sept 

2021) 

n/a 

1056 

(Sept 
2021) 

Lower 

Page 17



Page 10 of 23 

3.18a 

Equalities Sub-measure - 

% of Children's Social 

Care contacts for YP 

from the Black-

Caribbean ethnic group 

compared to overall 

population 

+3.5% +2.8% 

Lower 

than 

+2.8% 

+3.0% In line +2.8% In line 

3.18b 

Equalities Sub-measure - 

% of Children's Social 

Care contacts for YP 

from any Black ethnic 

group compared to 

overall population 

+6.9% +7.2% 

Lower 

than 

+7.2% 

+6.9% Yes +8.1% Yes 

3.18c 

Equalities Sub-measure - 

% of Children's Social 

Care contacts for YP 

from a Mixed ethnic 

group compared to 

overall population 

+6.0% +8.7% 

Lower 

than 

+8.7% 

+3.9% Yes +7.1% Yes 

3.19 

Corporate Indicator -  

Percentage of re-referrals 

to Children's Social Care 

within the previous 12 

months 

17.5% 17.5% 16.5% 21.3% No 21.1% In line 

3.19a 

Corporate Sub-measure  

- Percentage of re-

referrals to Children's 

Social Care within the 

previous 12 months - 

Black-Caribbean ethnic 

group 

18.2% 22.1% 
Less than 

22.1% 
21.0% Yes 30.8% Yes 

3.19b 

Corporate Sub-measure  

- Percentage of re-

referrals to Children's 

Social Care within the 

previous 12 months – 

White-British ethnic group 

18.8% 19.8% 
Less than 

19.8% 
23.8% No 25.0% Yes 

3.20 

Number of children who 

are the subject of a Child 

Protection Plan 

199 194 
200 or 

fewer 
160 Yes 174 Yes 

3.21 

Percentage of children 

who become the subject of 

a Child Protection Plan for 

a second or subsequent 

time 

18.3% 10.5% 16.5% 34.2% No 13.6% No 

3.22 

Percentage of children’s 

social care assessments 

completed within time 

91.0% 87.0% 89.0% 82.2% No 89.1% No 

Page 18



Page 11 of 23 

 

3.23 

Placement stability - short 

term - Proportion of 

looked after children with 

3 or more placements over 

the course of the year 

9.8% 15.0% 11.0%  3.6% N/A 6.2% Yes 

3.24 

Placement stability - long 

term - Percentage of 

children who have been 

looked after for more than 

2.5 years who have been 

looked after in the same 

placement for at least 2 

years or placed for 

adoption 

73.1% 69.1% 70% 64.8% No 62.4% Yes 

3.25 
Number of Looked After 

Children 
366 342 357 354 Yes 357 

Lower / 

in line 

3.27 

Number of children 

missing from care for 

24+ hours 

15 

(Mar 20) 

13 

(Mar 21) 
n/a 

11 

(Sept 

2021) 

n/a 
11 

(Sept 

20) 

In line 

3.28a 

Percentage of primary 

school pupils eligible for 

Free School Meals 

30.3% 

(Jan 20) 

37.9% 

(Jan 21) 
n/a 

38.8% 

(Summer 

21) 

n/a 

Not 

available 

due to 

Covid 

N/A 

3.28b 

Percentage of secondary 

school pupils eligible for 

Free School Meals 

34.3% 

(Jan 20) 

37.5% 

(Jan 21) 
n/a 

38.7% 

(Summer 

21) 

n/a 

Not 

available 

due to 

Covid 

N/A 

3.29 

Number of schools 

engaged in the 11 by 11 

Cultural Enrichment 

Programme  

65 66 60 59 
Yes 

(30 for 

Q2) 
28 Yes 

3.30 

Number of unique page 

views - Creative & Music 

pages  

New 

indicator 

in 2020/21 

20,192 10,000 9,211 Yes 4,622 Yes 

  

 3.2 - Corporate Indicator - Number of children being supported through our Bright 

Islington family support offer – rate of assessments per 10,000 

7.2 This Corporate Indicator has been added to show the number of children and young people 

accessing early help services.  The rate of assessments per 10,000 under 18s has been used as the 

measure to allow us to make comparisons with other areas.  This information is collected quarterly 

as part of the London Innovation and Improvement Alliance quarterly collections, so comparator 

data is available with a time lag of one quarter. 

 

No targets are set for this measure, as an increase could be a positive move, if more families are 

willing to work with our services, or a negative move, if this is reflecting an increase in levels of need 

below social care thresholds.   

Page 19



Page 12 of 23 

 

The latest local data shows that the rate of early help assessments per 10,000 under 17s was 984 in 

Q2 2021/22, which is in line than 2020/21 as a whole and within 1% of the rate for Q2 in 2020/21. 

 

The latest comparator data is for Q1 2021/22.  In Q1, the Islington rate of early help assessments 

was 1,090 per 10,000, which was the highest in London by a considerable margin, and above the 

London average of 217 per 10,000.  Note that some of the differences between local authority rates 

may reflect differences in the ways early help services are set up in different areas, and some 

changes in figures may reflect changes in reporting.  Nevertheless, this comparison suggests that 

Islington has a strong early help offer, reaching a considerable proportion of the community. 

 

Complexity of need has remained relatively high. However despite this, the majority of families who 

accessed family support made good progress and had improved circumstances at the end of their 

interventions based on the family outcomes star scores across a range of areas relating for family 

life.   

  

On average, the three areas where the greatest improvement can be seen is education and learning, 

parental wellbeing and boundaries and behaviour.  Parental wellbeing is the top area of need for 

parents accessing family support, so it is really positive that despite this being an area families feel 

most stuck this is one of the areas in which there is most impact.  

  

91% of families remained free of any re referral to early help in the 12 months following the end of 

their intervention (at year end 20/21), suggesting that impact is sustained over the longer term. 

 

 

  

3.3 - Percentage of 2 year old places taken up by low income families, children with 

Special Educational Needs or Disabilities (SEND) or who are looked after 

7.3 As performance on this measure can be affected by changes in restrictions around coronavirus, a 

new target has been set to be at or above the Inner London average, rather than set a specific 

figure.   

In Summer 2020/21 academic year, 565 2 year olds were taking up funded places, out of 839 

eligible children on the DWP list from the previous term, meaning 67% of places were being taken 

up.  The number of children taking up funded places increased on the previous term, whilst the 

actual number who were eligible had fallen.   

Comparator data has now been provided for the Summer term by the DfE.  This was using the 

January 2021 DWP list as a denominator, instead of the more recent list, and so reported the 

Islington take-up slightly lower at 64%.  However, the Inner London average (excluding City of 

London) was 57%, so Islington was above the target. 

 

While Islington’s target of take up above the Inner London average has been met, we are aiming 

much higher. The Free Early Education Strategy 21-22 outlines approaches to increasing take up to 

at least where it was in autumn 2021 (70%). The strategy focusses on three areas: maximising the 

use of the DWP list of eligible 2 year olds, communication and data analysis. We are hopeful that 

with Bright Start services resuming more widely face to face, the regular touch points with eligible 

families will enable more consistent communication of the benefits of free early education. Working 

with colleagues across Bright Start, Fairer Together and social care we will also be developing a 

Page 20



Page 13 of 23 

much more targeted approach to supporting families with EAL and children known to social care 

services.  

 

 3.6 - Corporate Indicator - Percentage of mainstream school children who are 

persistently absent (below 90% attendance) 

3.6a - Corporate Sub-measure - Percentage of primary school children who are 

persistently absent (below 90% attendance) 

3.6b - Corporate Sub-measure - Percentage of secondary school children who are 

persistently absent (below 90% attendance) 

7.4 A lower proportion of primary school children were persistently absent across the Autumn and Spring 

terms 2020/21 than the Inner London target (7.9% in Islington compared to 9.2% across Inner 

London).  However, 14.1% of Islington’s secondary school pupils were persistently absent, 

compared to only 10.9% across Inner London.  This means that Islington is above the Inner London 

target, looking at the overall headline measure for all mainstream shows. 

 

The Islington Persistent Absenteeism Programme commenced in 2018/19 by identifying 12 primary 

schools with high rates of persistent absenteeism.  The twelve primary schools met with the LA 

through a series of focussed meetings that developed strategies built around the themes outlined 

below:  

 Management and leadership of the school’s attendance strategy 

 Ensuring parents met their responsibilities 

 Effective support from partner agencies – Health, Families First, Early Intervention and 

Prevention 

 Support and challenge from the local authority  

In between these strategic meetings the LA worked with individual schools through a dedicated 

bespoke programme of support, based on local challenges.   

 

As a result, persistent absence in these schools improved the overall persistence absence for the LA 

by 7%.   

The programme was rolled out in 2019/20 but significantly interrupted by the pandemic.   

 

In 2020/21 the programme has been relaunched.  This year, the LA has identified and invited a 

further 12 primary schools and 7 secondary schools to participate in the programme.  A meeting with 

secondary schools was held on the 1 November 2021.  Following this meeting, the LA received 

positive feedback from secondary schools regarding how the programme can add value to their daily 

work.  The programme this year will involve monthly meetings and followed up by bespoke support 

for schools that focus on local context and challenges.   

 

 3.8 - Number of Electively Home Educated pupils 

7.6 During the pandemic, there has been an increase in the number of pupils being electively home 

educated.  This is not a local phenomenon – we have reports of significant increases being reported 

in other local authorities via professional networks.  This is now being monitored more closely, with 

an initial target set relating to the level seen during April 2021.   

Whilst numbers rose during the Summer term of the 2020/21 academic year, some Year 11s have 

now ‘aged out’ of this cohort.  Whilst this does happen at the end of every academic year, the 

Page 21



Page 14 of 23 

number of pupils electively home educated as at the end of September 2021 was below the number 

at the end of September 2020, and this was also below the target. 

Parents are responsible for ensuring their child, if he or she is of compulsory school age, is properly 

educated, the Education Act 1996 explicitly states that this does not have to be at school, and so 

parents have a right to educate their child at home. The act also states that “If your child has never 

been enrolled at a school, you are under no legal obligation to inform the local authority that he or 

she is being home educated, or gain consent for this”.   

As of 7 October 2021, the local authority was aware of 232 pupils being electively home educated. 

Less than 5% of these pupils have an education, health and care plan. 

The main reasons parents give us for choosing to electively home educated are that they or their 

child is unhappy at school or that they want to educate their child in line with their culture/religion. In 

the last year around a third of parents have given risks around COVID as a reason.  

At the point of notification from parents a safeguarding and education assessment is undertaken by 

the LA.  The process is outlined below: 

 Initial contact within 5 days via home visit where the family is agreeable (Access and 

Engagement Officer) 

 Parallel checks with Children’s Social Care, previous school, SEND team, health etc. 

 Risk assessment completed on both safeguarding and education to determine next steps 

(e.g. Escalation procedures if there is any cause of concern, frequency of visits/contact) 

The local authority does have a responsibility/duty to proactively monitor the suitability of 

arrangements and ensure at least an annual follow-up with families.  A dedicated officer is 

responsible for arranging annual visits to meet with the parents and the child (ren) being home 

educated.  This visit is not statutory.  Due to the impact of the pandemic these visits were scheduled 

to either a virtual meeting or by telephone.  Following the visit, a report is written.  This is approved 

by the Head of School Improvement and shared with the parents.   

The local authority continues to work with schools to ensure that any parents/carers considering 

elective home education are fully aware of the responsibilities they will be taking on and the 

implications for securing a school place in the future should they wish to. 

  

 3.18 – Children's social care contacts in the past month 

7.7 A new Corporate Indicator looking at the number of children’s social care contacts was introduced in 

2020/21 as a result of the pandemic.  In the initial weeks of lockdown, there was a considerable 

drop off in contacts.  However, by the end of the year, the overall number of contacts in the year 

was in line with the number in 2019/20.  Therefore, this measure is no longer a Corporate Indicator, 

but it continues to be monitored, after an increase in March 2021 as restrictions started to ease. 

 The number of contacts appear to have peaked in June 2021.  The number of contacts in August 

and September 2021 have been slightly lower than the same months in 2020.  However, the total for 

the entire quarter was quite large at 2,912, due to the still relatively high number of contacts in July.  

This was the highest number in Quarter 2 of any year since 2016/17.   

No target set - safeguarding numbers are not suitable for targets.  

The view of the Service is that contacts made are appropriate and indicate increasing need due to 

the pandemic. 

 

Page 22



Page 15 of 23 

 Equalities sub-measures to the contacts measure were added in 2020/21, focussing on those ethnic 

groups who make up a significantly higher proportion of children’s social care contacts than would be 

expected, based on our best estimates of the proportion of under-18s in Islington from these ethnic 

groups.   

3.18a – Equalities Sub-measure - % of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from the 

Black-Caribbean ethnic group compared to overall population 

7.8 An estimated 4.4% of the Islington under-18 population in 2021 are Black-Caribbean.  Excluding 

those cases where ethnicity hasn't been recorded, 7.4% of contacts made by the end of Q2 2021/22 

involved young people from the Black-Caribbean ethnic group, an over-representation of 3.0%.  This 

is a slightly higher over-representation than by the end of Q2 2020/21 or 2020/21 as a whole, 

although it is less of an over-representation than during 2019/20. 

The target for this measure is based on a reduction in the over-representation of Black-Caribbean 

young people from 2020/21 levels. 

 3.18b – Equalities Sub-measure - % of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from any 

Black ethnic group compared to overall population 

7.9 An estimated 22.6% of the Islington under-18 population in 2021 are from a Black ethnic group.  

Excluding those cases where ethnicity hasn't been recorded, 29.5% of contacts made by the end of 

Q2 2021/22 involved young people from a Black ethnic group, an over-representation of 6.9%.  This 

is a lower over-representation than by the end of Q2 last year, and less of an over-representation 

than during 2020/21 as a whole. 

The target for this measure is based on a reduction in the over-representation of Black young people 

from 2020/21 levels. 

 3.18c – Equalities Sub-measure - % of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from a 

Mixed ethnic group compared to overall population 

7.10 An estimated 17.6% of the Islington under-18 population in 2021 are from a Mixed ethnic group.  

Excluding those cases where ethnicity hasn't been recorded, 21.5% of contacts made by the end of 

Q2 2021/22 involved young people from a Mixed ethnic group, an over-representation of 3.9%.  This 

is a much lower over-representation than by the end of Q2 last year, and a much lower over-

representation than during 2020/21 as a whole. 

The target for this measure is based on a reduction in the over-representation of young people from 

a Mixed ethnic group from 2020/21 levels. 

 

CSCT accept contacts from professionals and service users. Currently work is taking place regarding 

greater awareness of cultural context of need and unconscious bias within organisations. This may in 

the longer term result in a reduction in the over representation of service users from these ethnic 

groups being referred and greater culturally appropriate interventions in place early on to negate 

onward referral. The Islington Safeguarding Children partnership have recently set addressing 

inequality and disproportionality as one of its priorities.  

  

3.19 – Corporate Indicator - Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social Care within 

the previous 12 months 

7.11 This indicator relates to children who have had a social care assessment and intervention which has 

resulted in their case being closed and who have then been referred again within 12 months of the 

case closure. Families not being re-referred to social care would indicate sustained change and that 

their problems do not require statutory intervention. Our previous auditing of these cases suggests 

Page 23



Page 16 of 23 

that the majority of these children relate to children living with domestic abuse where either the level 

of risk had apparently diminished or where the family no longer wanted social work intervention and 

the needs were not so great as to warrant statutory child protection processes being instigated. 

Audits of the cases when they are referred is indicative of new incidents of domestic abuse or an 

escalation of the original concerns. 

Historically, our re-referral rate had been fairly constant at about 20%, which has been similar to the 

national average. However, the proportion of re-referrals within 12 months has reduced in recent 

years and was 17.5% in the 2019/20 and 2020/21 financial years.  We have been meeting the long-

term targets set as part of the Children and Families Outcomes Framework, as agreed with the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).  The rate had been above the 

target for most of 2020/21, but the three lowest monthly re-referral rates in the year all took place 

in Q4 2020/21, and this lowered the annual overall rate to 17.5%, better than the target of 18.0%.  

The target for 2021/22 is more challenging at 16.5%. 

239 out of 1,121 referrals in the first half of 2021/22 were re-referrals within 12 months of a 

previous referral.  This equates to 21.3%, which is above the target.  However, it is lower than the 

Q1 figure, and in line with the same period in 2020/21. 

Comparator data for 2020/21 was published by the DfE at the end of October.  This showed that 

across the country as a whole, the re-referral rate went up by 0.1% to 22.7%, and across London, 

the re-referral rate went up from 18.8% to 19.3%.  This means Islington re-referral rate is lower 

than these comparators.  Islington has now moved into the top quartile, nationally, on this measure 

(i.e. Islington is one of the 25% of local authorities with the lowest re-referral rates).  

Recently one of the CIN teams that had a higher number of re –referrals has audited the cases – 

there were no concerns about cases being closed prematurely. Re-referrals had a number of cases 

that featured Domestic Violence & Abuse and contextual safeguarding as reason for referral.  

 

 3.19a – Corporate Sub-Measure - Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social Care 

within the previous 12 months – Black-Caribbean ethnic group 

and 

3.19b – Corporate Sub-Measure - Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social Care 

within the previous 12 months – White-British ethnic group 

7.12  As part of work looking at disproportionality around children’s social care, it was found that re-

referral rates for children and young people from the Black-Caribbean and White-British ethnic 

groups have been significantly above the Islington average over the last few years.  Therefore, 

equalities sub-measures have been added to this Corporate Indicator to monitor this more 

frequently. 

It should be noted that the percentages involved can relate to very low numbers of children and 

young people in the early part of the year, so performance can be volatile in quarters one and two. 

17 out of 81 referrals involving Black-Caribbean young people were re-referrals within 12 months of 

a previous referral. Currently, the re-referral rate for this ethnic group is below the Islington average. 

64 out of 269 referrals involving White-British young people were re-referrals within 12 months of a 

previous referral.  Whilst this is above the target and above the Islington average, the gap between 

the rate for White-British young people and the Islington average is actually narrower than it was at 

the end of 2020/21. 

 

Please see commentary for paragraphs 7.8 - 7.10  

 

Page 24



Page 17 of 23 

3.20 - Number of children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan 

7.13 Long term targets have been set as part of the Children and Families Outcomes Framework, agreed 

with the MHCLG, for the number of children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan to remain 

below selected levels each year.  In 2021/22, the aim is for the number of plans at any one time to 

remain below 200.  At the end of Q2 2021/22, this target was being met, as there were 160 children 

who were the subject of a Child Protection Plan at the end of September 2021. This was particularly 

low figure. 

Despite an increase in contacts to the service, the number of children who are the subject of child 

protection plans remains stable. This shows that while there has been a build-up of demand during 

the pandemic, service response has prevented such need leading to significant harm to children.  

 

3.21 - Percentage of children who become the subject of a Child Protection Plan for a 

second or subsequent time 

7.14 26 of the 76 children who became subject of Child Protection Plans in the first half of 2021/22 did so 

for the second or subsequent time.  Although this equates to 34.2%, a relatively high percentage, 

the numbers involved are relatively low at the start of the year, and so the percentage can be very 

volatile to small changes in the numbers.  Almost half of the children with repeat plans come from 

just four families.  Overall, 20% of the 160 children who were subject to a Child Protection Plan at 

the end of Q2 2021/22 had previously had a plan. 

The DfE published comparator data for 2020/21 at the end of October.  This showed that Islington’s 

performance on this measure was one of the best in the country.  Islington had the sixth lowest 

proportion of children becoming subject of a plan for a second or subsequent time.  However, the 

top three, all at 0%, were the small local authorities of City of London, the Isles of Scilly and 

Rutland.  If we only consider authorities of a significant size, Islington had the third lowest 

percentage in 2020/21. 

A smaller number of children on child protection plans may result in a higher concentration of 

families with chronic needs. Nevertheless, the following actions remain in place: 

 Alerts raised of potential repeat plans before a conference is booked 

 Child protection consultation to divert children who may not require a plan or if they do, 

ensure parallel plans are in place to ensure that the risk of drift is reduced 

 Ensuring child protection plans end only once positive change for the child has been 

sustained. 

  

3.22 - Percentage of children’s social care assessments completed within time 

7.15 By the end of Q2 2021/22, 82.2% of assessments completed in the year had been completed on 

time (982 out of 1,194).  This is lower than the target of 89%.  Assessment timeliness has 

historically been very strong in Islington, with the latest comparators for 2019/20 showing Islington 

being above the London and England rates for that year.  However, the proportion completed on 

time dropped during 2020/21.  Performance was strong in the first couple of months of this financial 

year, but dropped in June, and is now gradually recovering. 

The DfE comparator data uses a slightly different measure on assessments, which includes review 

assessments.  Islington tends to complete these reviews quickly, and so our performance reported 

for 2020/21 was 94.8%, better than the figure reported for our local measure.  This puts Islington 

above the London and England comparators and in the top quartile, nationally. 

Page 25



Page 18 of 23 

The service believes that the pandemic has had some impact on performance on this indicator, in 

that sometimes difficult to meet with families due to isolation. Performance is expected to continue 

to improve in the next quarter. 

 

 3.23 - Placement stability - short term - Proportion of looked after children with 3 or 

more placements over the course of the year 

7.16  13 of the 360 looked after children have experienced three or more placements in the year, at the 

end of Q2 2021/22.  This is just over half the number at the same point in 2020/21.  This measure is 

cumulative and the figures reset at the start of each financial year.  Whilst it appears we are on 

course to meet the year-end target, the percentage with three or more placements tends to increase 

more quickly later in the year, as more time has elapsed in which individual children may have 

multiple moves. 

 

Across the CLA Service there continues to be a focus on trying to improve placement stability for all 

children, making sure that we identify the right placements for our children as early as possible and 

that when carers start to struggle we offer early robust, multi-agency packages of support to the 

carer and the child. 

There is a monthly Placement Stability Panel in place chaired by Senior Managers, as only they can 

agree a move for a child unless in an emergency. 

  

3.24 - Placement stability - long term - Percentage of children who have been looked 

after for more than 2.5 years who have been looked after in the same placement for at 

least 2 years or placed for adoption 

7.17 The proportion of looked after children in long term stable placements was 64.8% at the end of Q2 

2021/22.  Although this has dropped since the end of 2020/21 and is below the 70% target, it is 

above the proportion in stable placements at the same point in 2020/21. 

 

The majority of our children who have been in our care for more than two and a half years are in 

stable placements. A number of placement moves take place to support siblings to be reunited or to 

remain together and this is positive, given the research evidence about the benefits of siblings being 

placed together when they are in care. Where we have not yet been able to identify the right 

placement for our children, they are carefully reviewed by our Head of Service.  

 

 3.25 - Number of Looked After Children 

7.18 After peaking in early 2020/21, the number of looked after children has reduced, and over the last 

twelve months has been fairly stable at around 350.  There were 354 children looked after at the 

end of Q2 2021/22.  We have long term targets for a gradual reduction in the number of Looked 

After Children over time, as part of the Children and Families Outcomes Framework.  The target set 

for the end of 2021/22 was to have 357 or fewer children looked after, so this target is currently 

being met. 

  

3.27 - Number of children missing from care for 24+ hours 

7.19 11 different Looked After Children were missing from care for 24 hours or more in September 

2021.  This is the same number as in September 2020, but a reduction on the number in the last 

month of 2020/21 (13).   

Page 26



Page 19 of 23 

No target has been set for this measure as it is not a Corporate Indicator, but it is reported to the 

Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee as it remains an area of focus for Safeguarding and Family 

Support, to ensure there is no sustained increase in numbers.  Numbers have been relatively stable 

in recent quarters. 

Children that are identified as missing from care and at risk of exploitation continue to be overseen 

by the Specialist Social Workers in the Exploitation and Missing Team who chair the initial strategy 

meetings for children missing from care. This allows for risks to be independently monitored, greater 

oversight of contextual risks and profile and ensures a specialist lens through which interventions are 

delivered. 

The Exploitation and Missing Team continue to provide training across the council and through the 

Islington Safeguarding Children Board which explores the link between children that go missing and 

risk of exploitation. In 2021 the training has been developed in conjunction with the police to reflect 

the changes to the police's reporting system for 13 – 17-year-olds in semi-independent or residential 

placements in London who are missing. There is continuous scrutiny at senior management 

oversight of children who do go missing with briefings provided every Friday to senior leaders. 

 

 3.28a – Percentage of primary school pupils eligible for Free School Meals 

3.28b – Percentage of secondary school pupils eligible for Free School Meals 

7.20 Applications for Free School Meals (FSM) were being reported in 2020/21 as there has been a 

substantial increase in the number of applications since the Covid-19 lockdown.  However, now the 

collection of the School Census has resumed, we are focussing in on eligibility levels, as not all 

applications necessarily result in someone being found to be eligible. 

No target has been set for these measures as they are not something our Pupil Services can directly 

affect, but generally we would want the figures to be low as they reflect the economic status of local 

families. 

The proportion of Islington primary school pupils who were eligible for Free School Meals in Summer 

2021 was 38.8%.  We cannot make a comparison with the same point last year as the Summer 

School Census collection was cancelled, due to the school closures in the first national lockdown.  

However, we know that eligibility rates increased over 2020 to reach 37.9% in January 2021, so the 

Summer figure shows a further increase of 0.9%.  Comparators are only published based on the 

January Census, but we know that Islington had the second highest proportion of eligible primary 

school pupils in the country at that point. 

The proportion of Islington secondary school pupils who were eligible for Free School Meals in 

Summer 2021 was 38.7%, an increase of 1.2% on the January 2021 figure.  Based on the January 

figures, Islington had the fifth highest proportion of secondary school pupils eligible for Free School 

Meals in the country, down from the fourth highest in 2020. 

It is worth noting that eligibility rates may look artificially high up to March 2022, due to transitional 

protections related to the rollout of Universal Credit. Pupils eligible on or after 1 April 2018 retain 

their free school meals eligibility even if their circumstances change.   

 

 3.29 - Number of schools engaged in the 11 by 11 Cultural Enrichment Programme  

7.21 Target is met. 59 unique schools engaged in Q2, ahead of the target set of 30 schools for this 

period: 39 Primary, 3 Special Primary, 1 PRU Primary and 1 PRU Secondary, 6 Secondary, 4 Special 

Secondary and 5 children’s centres/nursery. 

 

Page 27



Page 20 of 23 

As predicted in the Q1 report, 11 by 11 benefitted from excellent schools engagement following the 

Celebrating Our Creative Community Festival, 5-9 July 2021, and the reopening of the 11 by 11 

Activity Menu, in addition to ongoing CPD offers. We have had engagement from 59 unique settings, 

and a total of 64 settings engaged (including repeat engagement over quarters). 

 

The Cultural Enrichment Team expect to maintain this level of engagement over the coming quarter. 

The forthcoming Activity Menu will cover the Autumn and Spring terms and features a range of 

options, both in person and online. Additionally, the Culture Bank Challenging Inequalities CPD 

programme begins in Q3 during October 2021, and these attendees will further contribute to overall 

engagement figures in the coming quarter.  

 

Secondary Engagement in 11 by 11 & Targeting vulnerable groups 

Joint working across the Enrichment Workstream continues to focus on engaging children and young 

people in more challenging circumstances via a tailored approach. Priority groups which were 

identified by the Enrichment Workstream in 2020-21 have continued into this reporting year, and 

these were set as the Children in Need (CIN) service, Beacon High’s Pathways and Wellness and 

Inclusion Unit (focused on young people most at risk of exclusion), and the PRUs. 

 

Across Q2, 11 by 11 linked with 8 Islington secondary schools, predominantly via the Celebrating Our 

Creative Community Festival and more recently via the Autumn/Spring term Activity Menu. Much of 

Q2 covered the summer holiday break for schools and thus limited chances for interaction with the 

programme by young people. 

 

Moving forward into the academic year, there will be more teacher CPD development, offers for 

students, and targeted interventions particularly aimed at young people in more challenging 

circumstances across in a selection of settings. 

 

Priority work in 2021-22 with secondary aged students is being defined by the team and 11 by 11’s 

wider governance at present, and further progress will be reported from Q3. Work with the CIN 

service is set to continue, while Beacon High and the PRUs may also have some activity take place as 

part of legacy embedding. 

 

Targeting areas of low engagement   

At the outset of 11 by 11, the Cultural Enrichment Team identified 22 target schools for 11 by 11 

engagement, using as evidence of low cultural engagement the following sources: the November 2018 

Cultural Enrichment schools survey, individual meetings with secondary schools and liaison with 

Schools Improvement Service. Across the programme’s run, the team has made an effort of prioritise 

expressions of interest in the Activity Menu for these settings, and to engage them on a regular basis 

with training opportunities where possible.  

 

Through continued offers of blended options for engagement for training and activity to schools, we 

have maintained the level of engagement with our target schools for 11 by 11 in this academic year, 

with an overall 77% engagement rate. 

 

3.32 - Number of unique page views - Creative & Music pages 
 
 

7.22 Target is met – 9,211 unique page views compared to target of 5,000. 

  

Page 28



Page 21 of 23 

This indicator is significantly ahead of target. The number is reflective of the high level of 

engagement from schools with 11 by 11's Activity Menu, and MEI's online engagement via their 

Lockdown, Seasons Change events, and general website interaction. 

   

Total YTD unique page views: 9,211 

  

Page 29



Page 22 of 23 

8. Quarter 2 performance update – Outcome: Continuing to be a well-run council, 

making a difference despite reduced resources 

8.1 Key performance indicators relating to ‘Continuing to be a well-run council, making a difference 

despite reduced resources’ 
 

PI 

No. 
Indicator 

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 

Actual 

2021/22 

Target 

Q2 

2021/22 

On 

target? 

Q2 last 

year  

Better 

than 

Q2 last 

year? 

6.2 

Percentage of 

good and 

outstanding 

Islington 

schools (all 

phases) 

91.2% 91.2% 

94% 

(New target 

based on 

Inner 

London 

average) 

92.5%  n/a 91.2% Yes 

  

6.2 - Percentage of good and outstanding Islington schools (all phases) 

8.2 School inspections were on hold during the coronavirus restrictions.  There have been no new 

inspection reports published, as at the end of September 2021, from the last time this was reported 

to Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee.  However, Islington’s percentage of good and 

outstanding schools has improved, due to the closure of Clerkenwell Parochial CofE Primary School.  

By removing their ‘inadequate’ inspection judgement, the Islington figure has increased to 92.5% 

of schools judged to be good or outstanding.  This has meant Islington’s ranking, nationally, has 

moved up from 41st to 33rd and Islington is once more in the top quartile on this measure. 

 

3 schools are requiring improvement and at awaiting inspection.  2 of these schools have received 

positive monitoring visits from Ofsted.  3 schools were converted to academy status and 1 school 

has recently opened, as a result 4 schools are awaiting an inspection. Requiring Improvement and 

schools converted or newly open are all subject to a Section 5 inspection from Ofsted.  This is 

grade change inspection.   

 

 

Phase  Outstanding Good Requires Improvement 

Converted to 

academy and 

waiting 

inspection  

Primary  9 (20%) 35 (76%) 1 (2%) 1 (2%) 

Secondary  4 (40%) 2 (20%) 2 (20%) 2 (20%) 

Special 

(including New 

River College)  

5 (57%) 3 (34%) 0 (0%) 1 (11%) 

 

It is proposed that we set a target for this measure, in line with other education-related measures, 

we should aim for Islington to be at or better than the Inner London average.  This is a stretch 

target as we are already well above the national average.  Islington would meet this target with 

one improvement in an inspection outcome for a school currently judged to be ‘requires 

improvement’. 

 

  

Page 30



Page 23 of 23 

 

8. Implications 

 
Financial implications:  

8.1 The cost of providing resources to monitor performance is met within each service’s core budget. 

 Legal Implications: 

8.2 There are no legal duties upon local authorities to set targets or monitor performance. However, 

these enable us to strive for continuous improvement.  

 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon Islington 

by 2030: 

8.3 There is no environmental impact arising from monitoring performance. 

 Resident Impact Assessment:  

8.4 The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 

discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster 

good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do not 

share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010).  

8.5 The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take 

steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and 

encourage people to participate in public life. The council must have due regard to the need to 

tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 

9. Conclusion 

9.1 

 

The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out a clear set of priorities, underpinned by a set of firm 

commitments and actions that we will take over the next four years to work towards our vison of a 

Fairer Islington. The corporate performance indicators are one of a number of tools that enable us 

to ensure that we are making progress in delivering key priorities whilst maintaining good quality 

services.  

 

 
 

Signed by: 

  

 [Corporate Director and Exec Member] Date: [add date] 
 
 
Report Author: 

 
 
Various – co-ordinated by Adam White, Business Intelligence Project Manager 

Tel: x2657 
Email: adam.white@islington.gov.uk 

  

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



CS PI No.
Corporate 

Indicator?
Indicator

Frequency 

reported

Current Figure

(Period covered)

Previous Figure

(Period covered)

Figure at end of 

previous year
Direction of travel London England National quartile

Outcome: Creating a safe and cohesive borough for all

1.1 x
Percentage of young people (aged 10-17) triaged that are diverted 

away from the criminal justice system
Quarterly

85%

(Q1-2 2021/22)

94%

(Q1-2 2020/21)

89%

(Q1-4 2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

1.2 P
Corporate Indicator: Number of first time entrants into Youth 

Justice System
Quarterly

25

(Q1-2 2021/22)

15

(Q1-2 2020/21)

38

(Q1-4 2020/21) ↑ n/a n/a n/a

1.3 P
Corporate Indicator: Percentage of repeat young offenders (under 

18s)
Quarterly

20%

(Q2 2021/22 

provisional)

55%

(Q2 2020/21)

37%

(Q4 2020/21) ↓

1.3a P
Corporate Indicator sub-measure: Percentage of repeat young 

offenders (under 18s) - YJB measure
Quarterly

56.5%

(Q3 2019/20 - 

Q2 2020/21)

45.0%

(Q3 2018/19 - Q2 

19/20)

30.8%

(2019/20) ↑
41.0%

(Q3 2019/20 - 

Q2 2020/21)

33.1%

(Q3 2019/20 - 

Q2 2020/21)

Bottom

1.4 x Number of custodial sentences for young offenders Quarterly
4

(Q1-2 2021/22)

1

(Q1-2 2020/21)

2

(Q1-4 2020/21 ↑ n/a n/a n/a

1.5 P Corporate Indicator: Number of Domestic abuse offences Quarterly

1355

(Q2 2021/22 

provisional)

1378

(Q1-2 2020/21 

revised)

2537

(Q1-4 2020/21) ↔ n/a n/a n/a

Outcome: Delivering an inclusive economy, supporting people into work and financial independence and helping them with the cost of living 

2.4 x
100 hours of the world of work - Number of schools engaged with the 

programme
Quarterly

12

(Q2 2021/22)

21

(Q2 2020/21)

22

(End 2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

2.5 x Number of page views for 100 hours of the world of work Quarterly
1,529

(Q2 2021/22)

1,625

(Q2 2020/21)

4,504

(2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

Outcome: Making Islington the best place for all young people to grow up – where children and families can thrive and reach their potential

3.2 P

Corporate Indicator: Number of children being supported through 

our Bright Islington family support offer – rate of assessments per 

10,000 

Termly
984

(Q2 2021/22 FY)

993

(Q2 2020/21 FY)

985

(2020/21) ↔ 217

(Q1 2021/22)
n/a n/a

3.3 P

Corporate Indicator: Percentage of 2 year old places taken up by 

low income families, children with Special Educational Needs or 

Disabilities (SEND) or who are looked after 

Termly

67%

(Summer 

2020/21 AY)

Not available due 

to Covid

61%

(Spring 2020/21 

AY)
↑

50%

(January 2021)

62%

(January 2021)
2nd from bottom

3.6 P
Corporate Indicator: Percentage of mainstream school children 

who are persistently absent (below 90% attendance)
Termly

10.4%

(Autumn & 

Spring terms 

2020/21 AY)

Not available due 

to Covid

Not available 

due to Covid
n/a 9.2% 10.4% 2nd from bottom

3.6a P
Corporate Sub-measure: Percentage of primary school children 

who are persistently absent (below 90% attendance)
Termly

7.9%

(Autumn & 

Spring terms 

2020/21 AY)

Not available due 

to Covid

Not available 

due to Covid
n/a 8.2% 8.1% 2nd from top

3.6b P
Corporate Sub-measure: Percentage of secondary school children 

who are persistently absent (below 90% attendance)
Termly

14.1%

(Autumn & 

Spring terms 

2020/21 AY)

Not available due 

to Covid

Not available 

due to Covid
n/a 10.4% 11.7% Bottom

3.8 x Number of Electively Home Educated pupils Quarterly

234

(End of Q2 

2021/22 FY)

242

(End of Q2 

2020/21 FY)

247

(End of 2020/21 

FY)
↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.18 x Children's social care contacts in the past month
Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

1026

(Sept 2021)

1056

(Sept 2020)

1126

(March 2021) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.18a x
% of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from the Black-

Caribbean ethnic group compared to overall population
Quarterly

+3.0%

(Q2 2021/22)

+2.8%

(Q2 2020/21)

+2.8%

(2020/21) ↔ n/a n/a n/a

YJB measure on reoffending uses a different cohort 

so is not comparable

Appendix A - Data Dashboard

P
age 33



CS PI No.
Corporate 

Indicator?
Indicator

Frequency 

reported

Current Figure

(Period covered)

Previous Figure

(Period covered)

Figure at end of 

previous year
Direction of travel London England National quartile

3.18b x
% of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from any Black ethnic 

group compared to overall population
Quarterly

+6.9%

(Q2 2021/22)

+8.1%

(Q2 2020/21)

+7.2%

(2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.18c x
% of Children's Social Care contacts for YP from a Mixed ethnic 

group compared to overall population
Quarterly

+3.9%

(Q2 2021/22)

+7.1%

(Q2 2020/21)

+8.7%

(2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.19 P
Corporate Indicator: Percentage of re-referrals to Children's Social 

Care within the previous 12 months

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

21.3%

(Q2 2021/22)

21.1%

(Q2 2021/22)

17.5%

(2020/21 FY) ↔ 19.3%

(2020/21 FY)

22.7%

(2020/21 FY)
Top

3.19a P

Corporate Sub-measure: Percentage of re-referrals to Children's 

Social Care within the previous 12 months - Black-Caribbean ethnic 

group

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

21.0%

(Q2 2021/22)

30.8%

(Q2 2020/21)

22.1%

(2020/21 FY) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.19b P

Corporate Sub-measure: Percentage of re-referrals to Children's 

Social Care within the previous 12 months - White British ethnic 

group

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

23.8%

(Q2 2021/22)

25.0%

(Q1 2020/21)

19.8%

(2020/21 FY) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.20 x Number of children who are the subject of a Child Protection Plan
Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

160

(Q2 2021/22)

174

(Q2 2020/21)

194

(2020/21) ↓ n/a n/a n/a

3.21 x
Percentage of children who become the subject of a Child Protection 

Plan for a second or subsequent time

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

34.2%

(Q2 2021/22)

13.6%

(Q2 2020/21)

10.5%

(2020/21 FY) ↑
18.4%

(2020/21 FY)

22.1%

(2020/21 FY)
Top

3.22 x Percentage of assessments completed within time
Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

82.2%

(Q2 2021/22)

89.1%

(Q2 2020/21)

87.0%

(2020/21 FY)

(94.8% on DfE 

measure in 

20/21)

↓
89.1%

(2020/21 FY)

87.6%

(2020/21 FY)
Top

3.23 x
Placement stability - short term - Proportion of looked after children 

with 3 or more placements over the course of the year

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

3.6%

(Q2 2021/22 FY)

6.2%

(Q2 2020/21 FY)

15.0%

(2020/21 FY) ↓
10.4%

(2019/20 FY)

10.6%

(2019/20 FY)
2nd from top

3.24 x

Placement stability - long term - Percentage of children who have 

been looked after for more than 2.5 years who have been looked 

after in the same placement for at least 2 years or placed for 

adoption

Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

64.8%

(Q2 2021/22 FY)

62.4%

(Q2 2020/21 FY)

69.1%

(2020/21 FY) ↑
69.8%

(2018/19 FY)

68.2%

(2019/20 FY)
Top

3.25 P Number of Looked After Children Quarterly
354

(Sept 2021)

357

(Sept 2020)

342

(March 2021) ↔ Not comparable Not comparable n/a

3.27 x Number of children missing from care for 24+ hours
Monthly (internal) / 

quarterly for Scrutiny

11

(Sept 2021)

11

(Sept 2020)

13

(March 2021) ↔ n/a n/a n/a

3.28a x Percentage of primary school pupils eligible for Free School Meals Termly

38.8%

(Summer term 

2021)

Not available due 

to Covid

37.9%

(Jan 2021) ↑
22.2%

(Jan 2021)

21.6%

(Jan 2021)
Bottom

3.28b x Percentage of secondary school pupils eligible for Free School Meals Termly

38.7%

(Summer term 

2021)

Not available due 

to Covid

37.5%

(Jan 2021) ↑
22.4%

(Jan 2021)

18.9%

(Jan 2021)
Bottom

3.29 x
Number of schools engaged in the 11 by 11 Cultural Enrichment 

Programme
Quarterly

59

(End Q2 

2021/22)

28

(End Q2 

2020/21)

66

(End Q4 

2020/21)
↑ n/a n/a n/a

3.30 x Number of unique page views - Creative & Music pages Quarterly

9,211

(End Q2 

2021/22)

4,622

(End Q2 

2020/21)

20,192

(End Q4 

2020/21)
↑ n/a n/a n/a

Outcome: Ensuring our residents can lead healthy and independent lives 

Outcome: Making Islington a welcoming and attractive borough and creating a healthy environment for all 

Outcome: Continuing to be a well-run council, making a difference despite reduced resources 

6.2 x Percentage of good and outstanding Islington schools (all phases) Quarterly
92.5%

(Q2 2021/22 FY)

91.2%

(Q2 2020/21 FY)

91.2%

(2020/21 FY) ↑
93.3%

(Q2 2021/22 FY)

86.5%

(Q2 2021/22 FY)
Top

P
age 34



Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee 

Work Plan 2021/22 

DRAFT 

 

  

 

 6 December 2021 

1. Scrutiny Review – witness evidence 

2. Quarter 2 Performance Report 

  

 11 January 2022 

1. Scrutiny Review – witness evidence and concluding discussion 

2. Executive Member questions 

 

 1 March 2022 

 1. Scrutiny Review – draft recommendations 

 2. Islington Safeguarding Children Board – Annual Report (to be noted) 

3. School Results 2021 (including qualitative data from schools and the 3Rs 

strategy) 

 

 28 March 2022 

 1. Scrutiny Review – draft report 

 2. Quarter 3 Performance Report 

 3. Youth Offending Service 

 

 June 2022 (date to be confirmed) 

1. Membership, Terms of Reference, Dates of Meetings 

2. Quarter 4 Performance Report 

3. Annual report back on the Transition from COVID-19 scrutiny review 

1. School Place Planning 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item B3



 

  

 

Page 36


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	B2 Children's Services Quarter 2 2021/22 Performance Report
	CS Scrutiny - Basket of Indicators - Q2 2021-22

	B3 Work Programme

